# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/13/2022 1:51 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101011-7

#### No. 385426-III

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# RUSSELL MARTIN, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

# CITY OF LAKEWOOD, Respondent.

#### CITY'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Eileen M. McKain, WSBA #17792 Assistant City Attorney City of Lakewood 6000 SW Main Street Lakewood, WA 98499 253-589-2489

Attorney for Respondent

####

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
П.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION				
ш.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW/				
	ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR				
	a. Is the appellate decision in conflict with established law which has determined that records, even related records, not used or held in a particular file, are not responsive to PRA requests for a particular file and that agencies need not be "mind readers" in responding to PRA requests? Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998); Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014); Dotson v. Pierce County, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020); RCW 42.56.080; 42.56.550(1); and WAC 44-14-040022				
	b. If the trial court erred by not holding an evidentiary hearing on Martin's untimely declaration, did the appellate court also err in entering judgment in favor of Martin based on that untimely declaration, effectively creating an issue of fact, but affording the City no opportunity to respond to it, particularly when the City bears the burden of proof under the PRA? RCW 42.56.550(1); CR 56				

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
	a. Two separate investigations; two separate files; and two separate PRA requests3
	i. City provided all records, as requested
	ii. Martin misrepresented facts3
	iii. Appeals not consolidated4
	b. Appellate decision reversed trial court based on untimely declaration and did not remand for evidentiary hearing5
v.	ARGUMENT5
	<ul> <li>a. Appellate decision – concurrent investigation was "sufficiently related" to file requested8</li> </ul>
	i. The appellate decision is in conflict with Dotson which established that records, even related records, not used or held in a particular file are not responsive to PRA requests for that particular file9
	ii. The focus should have been on Martin's request as submitted. As submitted, Martin limited the scope of his request to PSS00411

	iii.	Martin confirmed the limited scope of his request by referring to "this investigation" as opposed to all other investigations, in his request12
	iv.	Martin was well aware that there were two separate investigations and files, but requested only one of them at a time
b.	Martin appell over r an issu	ppellate decision erred in granting n summary judgment because the late court's disagreement with trial court elevancy of an untimely motion created ue of fact that the City had no tunity to address
	i.	This case did not follow an ordinary course because Martin repeatedly missed court deadlines and the files were confused
	ii.	the trial court should have held an evidentiary hearing on Martin's untimely declaration, but then without an evidentiary or allowing the City to respond to the declaration, granted summary judgment in favor of
CO	)NCL	Martin
$\sim$	~ x • • • • • • •	~~±~± 1

VI.

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Page</u>
Dotson v. Pierce County, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020)2, 9, 12
Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998)2, 11
Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014)2, 5, 11, 20
Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 183 Wn.App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (1994)6
State v. Cobos, 178 Wn. App. 692, 315 P.3d 600 (2013)19
<u>Statutes</u>
<i>RCW 42.56.080</i>
<i>RCW 42.56.550</i>
RCW 42.56.550(1)
RCW 42.56.550(2)5
Other Authorities
<i>WAC 44-14-04002</i> 2, 11

#### 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

On June 13, 2022, the City of Lakewood, Respondent,

(City) filed this petition to the Supreme Court for discretionary
review of the Court of Appeals Division III decision in 385426
III.

#### 2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

On April 28, 2022, Division III held that the superior court erred by summarily dismissing a case brought pursuant to the Public Records Act (PRA), reversed the superior court decision and held that the requester, former officer Martin, is entitled to summary judgment against the City for violating the PRA. *Appendix 1*.

On May 17, 2022, the City filed a timely motion for reconsideration with Division III. On May 20, 2022, Division III denied the City's motion for reconsideration. *Appendix 2*.

#### 3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Is the appellate decision in conflict with established law which has determined that records, even related records, not used or held in a particular file, are not responsive to PRA requests for a particular file and that agencies need not be "mind readers" in responding to PRA requests? *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998); *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014); *Dotson v. Pierce County*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020); *RCW 42.56.080*; 42.56.550(1); and *WAC 44-14-04002*.

If the trial court erred by not holding an evidentiary hearing on Martin's untimely declaration, did the appellate court also err in entering judgment in favor of Martin based on that untimely declaration, effectively creating an issue of fact, but affording the City no opportunity to respond to it, particularly when the City bears the burden of proof under the PRA? *RCW* 42.56.550(1); *CR* 56.

#### 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

## a. Two separate investigations; two separate files; and two separate PRA requests.

Martin was a police officer who was involved in two separate, but concurrent, internal police investigations.

Although obviously aware of both investigations, Martin initially requested records related to only *one* of the investigations, *by the particular file name*: "All documents and recordings related to PSS#2019-PSS004." *CP 30*.

#### i. City provided all records, as requested.

Before receiving the records related to the PSS004 investigation file, Martin submitted a second request, this time for records related to PSS003. *CP 31*.

The City provided Martin with all records related to both investigation files 7 months before Martin filed this case against the City, first PSS004 and then PSS003. CP32-33; 96.

#### ii. Martin misrepresented facts.

Yet, at the trial court level and throughout this appeal,
Martin has alleged that the City failed to provide him with one
record, the Porche interview, "responsive to my Public Records
request under PSS#2019-PSS004 until after the filing of the
lawsuit." *CP 61, lines 14-18, and Martin's appellate brief at p.12.* This is demonstrably false; Martin received all records
before he filed suit. *CP 87 and 96.* Moreover, Martin received
all records, as he himself requested them.

The trial court granted the City's summary judgment motion, noting that Martin misrepresented the facts and that the City provided him with all records he requested, as he requested them. *CP 296*.

#### iii. Appeals not consolidated.

Martin appealed two trial court orders; the order granting the City summary judgment and the order granting the City costs. Although clearly related, these appeals were not consolidated, but were considered in two different appellate

divisions. The appeal on costs has been further appealed to the Supreme Court. The City will seek to consolidate this petition for review with that petition.

# b. Appellate decision reversed trial court based on untimely declaration and did not remand for evidentiary hearing.

The appellate court disagreed with the trial court, holding that the trial court should have conducted an evidentiary hearing on a declaration Martin filed the night before the second summary judgment hearing. Without affording the City an opportunity to counter the untimely declaration, the appellate decision reversed the trial court and entered judgment in favor of Martin, remanding only for assessment of costs against the City.

#### 5. ARGUMENT.

The PRA is meant to ensure prompt access to public records, it is *not* meant to be a game of "gotcha." *Hobbs v.*Wash. State Auditor's Office, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014).

To that end, the PRA provides a cause of action for two types of violations: (1) when an agency wrongfully denies an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record; and (2) when an agency has not made a reasonable estimate of the time required to respond to the request. RCW 42.56.550(1) (2); *Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol*, 183 Wn.App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (1994).

In this case, the City did not withhold anything from Martin. The City promptly provided Martin with all responsive records in response to two specific requests for two separate and distinct files, as he himself requested them, seven months before he filed suit.

#### Martin's first request - PSS004.

Martin asked for records "related to" a specific internal investigation file; PSS004. Consistent with the PRA, established case law and the PRA rules, the City reasonably believed Martin wanted records related to *that particular* file and provided them to him.

#### Martin's second request - PSS003.

When Martin later requested records "related to" a separate, concurrent investigation file (PSS003), the City again reasonably believed Martin wanted records related to *that particular* file and provided them to him. The City withheld *nothing* from Martin.

Martin submitted his second request before the City could provide records responsive to his first request. This confirmed the City's interpretation of Martin's request for the specific files. In fact, had the City consolidated Martin's two requests and provided the two separate file records in installments, Martin might have argued that the City unreasonably delayed production of the records. While the first file requested – PSS004 – required no third party notice or redactions, the second file – PSS003 did. The City did not consolidate or otherwise delay production of PSS004 records, but provided them as quickly as possible. Similarly, the City did not consolidate or otherwise delay production of PSS003

records, but provided them as quickly as possible, after third party notice and redactions.

#### Alleged PRA violation.

Seven months later, and in possession of all responsive records, Martin claimed the City failed to provide him with one record, the Porche interview, "responsive to my Public Records request under PSS#2019-PSS004 until after the filing of the lawsuit." *CP 61, lines 14-18, and Martin's appellate brief at p.12.* Martin did not receive the Porche records in response to his request for PSS004 because the Porche records were not – ever – part of the PSS004 file or investigation. Moreover, Martin's claim is demonstrably false; Martin received all records before he filed suit; PSS004 records in response to his request for PSS004 records and PSS003 records in response to his request for PSS004 records and PSS003 records in response to

a. Appellate decision – concurrent investigation was "sufficiently related" to file requested.

The appellate decision, however, holds that the City should have known Martin wanted part of the concurrent investigation file because that concurrent investigation file was "sufficiently related" to the file Martin actually and specifically requested.

i. The appellate decision is in conflict with *Dotson* which established that records, even *related* records, not used or held in a particular file are *not* responsive to PRA requests for that particular file.

Pierce County, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020). In Dotson, the court concluded that other records may be "related" to a particular file, but if those records were not actually used or held in that file, then they are not responsive to a public records

The appellate decision is in conflict with *Dotson v*.

Like *Dotson*, records from the separate, concurrent investigation may have been related to the file Martin requested, PSS004, but pursuant to *Dotson*, because those related records were not actually used or held in PSS004, they

request.

should not be considered responsive to Martin's request for records "related to" PSS004.

The appellate decision, however, concluded that the trial court's application of *Dotson* to the facts in this case was overstated because in *Dotson*, there was "no substantive relationship between the files," and in this case, there was "substantial overlap" between the two files in this case.

However, *Dotson* does not rely on the degree of overlap between related files. *Dotson* specifies that if related records were *not* actually used or held in that file, then they are *not* responsive to a public records request. In this case, the related record – the Porche interview – was not used or even mentioned in PSS004. As such, no violation should have been found.

Moreover, under the PRA, Martin's request for a specific file should dictate the scope and adequacy of the City's search.

Otherwise, instead of working with requests *as submitted*, agencies will be required to be "mind readers" in assessing

what a requester actually wants; an untenable position. *Bonamy* v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998).

ii. The focus should have been on Martin's request as submitted. As submitted, Martin limited the scope of his request to PSS004.

Courts have made it clear that people requesting records under the PRA have the obligation to "identify the documents with sufficient clarity to allow the agency to locate them." *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) and see, *RCW* 42.56.080; 42.56.550(1).

Martin's request for PSS004 may be characterized as an "identifiable" record because it targets a specific file by name, but it is also qualified. The PRA rules note that when requests are qualified with an "inexact phrase" such as all records "relating to" a topic, as in this case, agencies may interpret the request as one for records which directly and fairly address the topic. WAC 44-14-04002.

In this case, when Martin asked for records "related to" a specific and particular file - PSS004 – he himself limited the scope of the search to records related to that particular file - not records in other files. *Id and Dotson v. Pierce County*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020).

iii. Martin confirmed the limited scope of his request by referring to "this investigation" as opposed to all other investigations, in his request.

Martin repeatedly confirmed the City's reasonable interpretation of his request as limited to "this investigation" under PSS004. Specifically, Martin characterized it as a request related to "this internal investigation," as opposed to any other internal investigation. *CP 2 and CP 60 (emphasis added)*.

Martin also specifically described the records allegedly withheld as "in the possession of the city *under* 2019 PSS004" as opposed to any other particular file or investigation. *CP 4*. Martin continued the reference to the particular investigation

and file throughout this appeal. *Appellant's Opening Brief at p.*12.

As used by Martin, these definite demonstrative articles refer to a specific investigation; a specific file – as opposed to all others, including the separate, but concurrent investigation file of PSS003 which included the Porche interview.

iv. Martin was well aware that there were two separate investigations and files, but requested only one of them at a time.

Martin requested records "related to" PSS004 and the City reasonably believed he wanted the records in that file. Had Martin wanted a record from another file - the Porche interview in PSS003 - he could have asked for it and it would have been provided. But even though fully aware that there were two, separate investigations in two, separate files, Martin limited his request to only *one* of them. <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Initially. Before the City could provide Martin with the records related to PSS004, Martin submitted a request for PSS003.

This is one difference between *Dotson* and this case. The requester in *Dotson* did not know about both files until the agency had provided her with the records and she saw a reference to it. Unlike Dotson, Martin was aware of *both* files before he submitted his first request, but he requested only *one* of them at a time.

This distinction is important because while both requesters used the inexact phrase "related to," perhaps hoping to broaden the scope of their requests, Martin simultaneously limited his request by identifying a specific file number and he did so when he knew there was another, separate, file available.

In both *Dotson* and this case, there was no effort to hide the other file. The other files were referenced so that a requester could ask for them if they wanted them. In this case, once Martin requested the other file – PSS003 - the City provided it to him; the City provided it to him seven months before he filed suit.

B. The appellate decision erred in granting Martin summary judgment because the appellate court's disagreement with trial court over relevancy of an untimely motion created an issue of fact that the City had no opportunity to address.

The City has the burden of proving it did not violate the PRA pursuant to the PRA and when it moves for summary judgment. *RCW 42.56.550 and CR 56*. By statute and practice, the Court may decide PRA cases on the basis of declarations. *Id; RCW 42.56.550; and Dotson v. Pierce County*, Division II June 2020. Evidentiary hearings with testimony are rare.

Therefore, in the ordinary course of proceedings under the PRA and summary judgment, the City is permitted to demonstrate, with good faith declarations, that it complied with the PRA; Martin is permitted to respond; and the City may then reply.

i. This case did not follow an ordinary course because Martin repeatedly missed court deadlines and the files were confused.

This case did not follow an ordinary course. *CP 83*. The City sought to resolve this case with Martin by, among other

things, understanding what Martin believed the City had failed to provide. *CP 12*. These efforts were unsuccessful; Martin provided only clues and sought no discovery. Having good reason to believe it had complied with the PRA and bearing the burden of proof under PRA, the City moved for summary judgment. *CP 11*. The City scheduled the hearing, giving more time than required and noting it for the trial court's prepopulated mandatory hearing date, which was generated when Martin file his complaint. Given all of this, Martin should not have been unprepared for a hearing on that date.

However, Martin was not prepared for the hearing, instead filing a response and a motion to continue the night before the hearing. In his untimely response to the City's summary judgment motion, Martin argued that the City withheld the Porche interview. *CP 53*. Martin's response was the first time Martin had specifically identified the Porche interview as the "missing" record.

The City then checked the two files and confirmed that the Porche interview was *never* part of the first file Martin had requested. The City was prepared to explain this at the first summary judgment hearing, but Martin insisted that the hearing should be continued. The hearing was continued. To resolve the confusion, the City attached the two files for the trial court's independent review in its reply brief. *CP* 85. The trial court confirmed what the City had found; the Porche interview was not used or even mentioned in the PSS004 investigation or file. *CP* 296-299.

The day before the second summary judgment hearing,

Martin filed a declaration alleging – for the first time - facts he
had known for over a year, but had not brought forward; the
Vahle declaration. *CP 280-285*. Officer Vahle had, like
Martin, been involved in both investigations and the allegations
against him had been sustained. *Id.* Vahle claimed in the
declaration that he was given records, including the Porche
interview, in advance of a *Loudermill* hearing regarding the

sustained allegations. *Id.* The City moved to strike, but also noted that the untimely Vahle declaration was irrelevant to what the City provided Martin in the context of his request for records "related to" a specific investigation file. The trial court agreed. *CP 296-299*.

ii. The appellate decision concluded that the trial court should have held an evidentiary hearing on Martin's untimely declaration, but then without an evidentiary or allowing the City to respond to the declaration, granted summary judgment in favor of Martin.

The appellate decision, reviewing the case de novo, concluded that the trial court should not have ruled on the untimely declaration without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing.

The superior court essentially made factual findings by determining the Vahle declaration was "totally irrelevant." It was improper for the court to make such a factual determination without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing with testimony, and was, moreover, a violation of the applicable standard for evaluating motions for summary judgment. *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 677, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) ("When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the court considers all facts submitted and all reasonable

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