# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/13/2022 4:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court NO. 1010117

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## RUSSELL MARTIN, Appellant.

V. CITY OF LAKEWOOD CITY

ON APPEAL
FROM THE DIVISION III COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
CAUSE NO. No. 385426-III
TRIAL COURT PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
CAUSE NO. 20-2-00980-3

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT / (APPELLANT DIV III)

Alan Harvey
Attorney for
APPELLANT /PLAINTIFF
RUSSEL MARTIN
Northwest Legal Advocates, LLC
PO Box 61912
Vancouver, WA 98666
360 281 9353

### I.

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

However, the proffered amended Order on Summary

Judgement filed on the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2020 actually reflected a substantive change in line with the rules and in the first paragraph as follows (italics and bold for emphasis):

based on consideration of the pleadings, motions, memoranda of law and declarations provided, and particularly the following: City's Motion for Summary Judgment and Declarations of O'Flaherty, Pitts, and McDougal; Plaintiff's Response to City's Motion and Declarations of Martin and Harvey; City's Reply to Plaintiff's Response and Declarations of O'Flaherty, Lawler and Pitts; *Plaintiff's Declaration of Vahle*, it is hereby ORDERED that:... CP296.

It is important to highlight the difference between this and the original language, noting again the language that was found to be defective:

"Based on consideration of the pleadings, motions, memoranda of law and declarations provided, it is hereby ORDERED that:" CP286.

On the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2020 the City's amended order also notably incorporated Officer Vahle's declaration by reference as part of the process and decision making by the court. On the 1<sup>st</sup> of September 2020, Jodie Thompson of Division II of the Court of Appeals provided notice to the City and the plaintiff that the appeal of the matter filed on the 9<sup>th</sup> of July 2022 relating to Summary Judgement had been perfected and had been attributed Case No. 55031-8-II by the Court of

Appeals. This matter was transferred to Division III due to Covid related overloads in caseloads in Division II and was decided on the 28th of April 2022.

The City filed no motions to address the trial courts Order Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment, or to have any factual or legal defects addressed or corrected relating to the order filed on the 1st of September 2020. The only changes to the 2nd of July 2020 were made due to the rejection letter referenced above from Division II, Court of Appeals, David Byrne.

On the 18<sup>th</sup> of September 2020, the plaintiff timely filed a Notice of Appeal relating to the Court's entry of the Findings for Attorney's fees. This Notice of Appeal was filed to address the second action by the trial court, the ordering of costs. This appeal is the sole subject matter of the appeal under from the Division II, Court of Appeals decision entered in this matter on Court of Appeals No. 55221-3-II. Further, the courts order on the 1<sup>st</sup> of September 2020, , i.e. the entry of an order for costs was the sole issue before Division II, Court of Appeals and now this court. The ruling on that issue was issued on the 1<sup>st</sup> of March 2022. (See attachment A below).

#### B. Substantive Facts

Russell Martin is a Police Officer and has been employed by the City of Lakewood in that capacity by the since 2004. CP 45-52. Russell Martin has been a member of the collective bargaining unit which represents Lakewood Police Officers, the Lakewood Independent Police Guild, since the formation of the Guild. CP 56 Over the past 16 years, Russell Martin has become familiar with the employees of the City of Lakewood outside of the Police Department and with the policies and procedures of the City of Lakewood, including those independent of the Police Department's. C.P. 56-57.

Russell Martin has been active in Union/ Guld business during the time he has a member of the Lakewood Independent Police (LPIG) Guild President, specifically in assisting the LPIG President, Jeremy Vahle with guild related activities during the tenure of his presidency from at least 2017 through the fall of 2019. CP 57.

On the 2nd of May 2019, the investigation was completed, and the findings were entered in Russel Martin's matter and his portion of PSS # 2019 PSS004. was finalized or concluded. CP 57. Officer Vahle's matter under PSS # 2019-PSS004. wasn't concluded until approximately 2 weeks later. CP 57. On the 16th of May 2019, Officer Vahle received notice regarding the disposition of his matter under PSS # 2019-PSS004.. From the 22nd of February 2019 until the 16th of May 2019, Office Vahle was still under the restrictions preventing him from discussing his matter. CP 57. On or about the 2nd of May 2019, when Russell Martin was informed that that he had been exonerated with respect to his investigation under PSS # 2019-PSS004. CP 57. On the 2nd of May 2019, Russell Martin contacted Lt. Lawler and made an oral request for records relating to the

investigative file relating to the PSS # 2019-PSS004 matter. CP 57. Initially, on the 2nd of May 2019 Lt. Lawler, the supervisor of the Professional Standards Unit, informed Russell Martin that he could provide the investigation to him. CP 57.

However, later the same day, on the 2nd of May 2019, after Lt. Lawler granted the oral request by Russell Martin, Lt. Lawler contacted Russel Martin and then later denied his request to be provided the records related to PSS # 2019-PSS004. CP 58 Lt. Lawler is in a supervisory capacity with respect to Svea Pitts in the Professional Standards Unit. CP 58

On or about the 2nd of May 10, 2019, Russell Martin became aware that the same allegations made against him were also made as against Officer Jeremy Vahle under PSS # 2019-PSS004 and that these had been sustained as to Officer Vahle. CP 58. Specifically, on the 14th of May 2019, as to PSS # 2019-PSS004 Russell Martin made a written public records request to the City of Lakewood through the portal for public records requests; stating as follows: "All documents and recordings related to PSS#2019-PSS004." CP 58

There is no evidence that a request for clarification was sent by the City relating to this request. The request appears to be clear and understandable on its face. Russell Martin's request relating to "PSS#2019-PSS004" which was a reference to an internal affairs investigation case number from the Professional Standards Unit. Prior and throughout the time that PSS # 2019- PSS004 was

initiated Officer Jeremy Vahle was the President of the Lakewood Independent Police Guild. CP 58.

After Russell Martin had been served with the allegations related to PSS #2019-PSS-004 and before his matter was completed on the 2nd of May 2020, he became aware of a petition within the LPIG going around for a recall vote of the LPIG Jeremy Vahle. CP 60. A primary concern and basis for Russell Martin's public record request was to allow for him to understand what was done in the investigation under PSS # 2019-PSS004, to discover who was interviewed and what information supported the decision- making process. CP.61

In summary a primary purpose for the request was to enable Russell Martin to try to understand how he was exonerated, and Jeremy Vahle was not. CP 61. Russell Martin was attempting to engage in legitimate union activity in a search for information. CP 61. Lakewood Police Sgt. Charles Porsche was the immediate supervisor of the officer whose honesty was the subject of concerns of Officer Jeremy Vahle and Russell Martin, which in turn resulted in the investigation refenced above at PSS# 2019-PSS004.

CP.62. Sgt. Charles Porsche was interviewed as part of PSS # 2019-PSS004. CP. 62 Sgt. Charles Porsche's interview was not provided by the City of Lakewood responsive to the Public Records request under PSS# 2019- PSS004 until after the filing of this lawsuit by Mr.

Martin. CP 62 Sgt. Charles Porsche's consent forms for his video

interview were also not provided by the City of Lakewood responsive to my Public Records request under PSS# 2019-PSS004 until after the filing of the lawsuit. CP 62. The file containing Porche's interview provided in response to the second request was labeled in part "2019PSS003---004," indicating it was part of the PSS003 file as well as the PSS004 file. CP at 14.

Jeremy Vahle provided a sworn statement highlighting how he came to be in possession of the items that were not provided to Russ Martin in PSS # 2019-PSS004. CP. 280 -285. These items, i.e , the video interview of Sgt. Porsche and related consent forms were provided to Jeremy Vahle by Lakewood clerk Svea Pitts within days of the request made by Russ Martin. These Items were provided not via a public records request. They were provided by the City to Jeremy Vahle as were part of the PSS # 2019-PS004 file in relation to his disciplinary matter. CP.283.

Jeremy Vahle's declaration details when his investigation closed.

C.P. 282-283. Although, the trial court didn't even read Jeremy Vahle's declaration on the 2<sup>nd</sup> of July 2020, when summary judgement was ordered. However, it appears the trial court had read it by the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2020, after the appeal of summary judgement had been filed. Transcript of the Proceedings, July 2, 2020 (Volume 1), Pg. 6, and Transcript of the Proceedings, August 28, 2020 (Volume 3), Pgs. 111-112. Specifically, the trial court stated as follows on the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2020:

THE COURT: So the City concedes that there potentially could have been a delay damage type complaint if the Porche interview was in fact contained in a file but not provided until a second request was made?

MS. McKAIN: (Nods head up and down.)

THE COURT: As I understand the City's filings in this case up until that summary judgment motion when I think Ms. Pitts changed her tune a little bit about cross-reference, -- MS. Mc KAIN: Right.

THE COURT: -- even the City was under the impression up to that time that there may have been some cross-reference here. And like you said, "Oh, we may not have produced this."

MS. Mc KAIN: Yeah.

THE COURT: So doesn't that in and of itself make it not a frivolous lawsuit, since --..

Transcript of the Proceedings, August 28, 2020 (Volume 3), Pgs. 111-112.

It is clear that the only corrections to the record made by the trial court after the filing of the Notice of Appeal were made on the 28<sup>th</sup> of August to 2020 relating to this appeal were at the top of page 1 of the Amended Order Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment.

CP 296. These are set out above and nowhere in the Amended Order Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment entered on the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2022 did the court make any other material changes.

#### C. Argument

The underlying issues relating to the granting of summary judgment was not the subject matter of this appeal. The only issue before Division II Court of Appeals was the related to Order

Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment entered on the 2<sup>nd</sup> of July 2020 and the Amended Order Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment entered on the 28<sup>th</sup> of August 2020. Division III committed no error regarding this matter.

It has been established that this court reviews Summary Judgement and questions of statutory interpretation and allegations of agency violations of the PRA de novo. *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 715, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). In this matter the court is reviewing the decisions relating to the granting of an Order Granting City's Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to violations of RCW 42.56. Summary judgment is appropriate where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c).

This court has found that an aspect of de novo review requires that the reviewing court when considering the record on appeal, that solely consists of declaration or documentary evidence, the reviewing court reviewing stands in the same position as the trial court on credibility issues. Service Emps. Int'l Union Local 925 v. University of Wash., 193 Wn.2d 860, 866, 447 P.3d 534 (2019).

The trial court made factual findings by determining Jeremy Vahle's declaration was "totally irrelevant." As a matter of law this

finding was improper without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing with testimony. *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 677, 880 P.2d 988 (1994), Additionally, as a matter of law the trial courts finding relating to Jeremy's Vahle's declaration was a violation of the applicable standard for evaluating motions for summary judgment. *Id*.

With respect to the first assignment of error, the Court of Appeals for Division III appropriately distinguished *Dotson v. Pierce* County, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 466, 464 P.3d 563 (2020) on the facts with respect to this matter. The key facts rendering *Dotson* in opposite with respect to this matter relate to the numerous instances of clear overlap between Investigation file # PSS004 and Investigation file # PSS003. The facts in the instant case referenced were the interview forms that were cross referenced in both Investigation file # PSS004 and Investigation file # PS003 as to Charles Porsche. In addition to the fact that the interview of Charles Porshe is referenced in both Investigation file # PSS004 and Investigation file # PSS003. In the instant matter it is clear that there was a substantive relationship between both PSS004 and PSS004.

As to the first assignment of error, Division III committed no error as to established law or decisions from the Court of Appeals.

Assignment of error number 1 is without merit and the Petition for

review should be denied.

Assignment of error number 2 does not assert error within RAP 13.4, A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The facts are that the court made nine findings in the Order Granting Summary Judgment and the Amended Order Granting Summary Judgment. There was no finding by the court relating to Lakewood Police Officer Jeremy Vahle's to timeliness declaration. The City prepared and proffered both the Order Granting Summary Judgment and the Amended Order Granting Summary Judgment.

It is well-established law that an unchallenged finding of fact will be accepted as verities upon appeal. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641,644, 870 P.2d 313,315 (1994) (citing to *In re Riley*, 76 Wash.2d 32, 33, 454 P.2d 820, cert. denied, 396 U.S. 972, 90 S.Ct. 461, 24 L.Ed.2d 440 (1969); *Tomlinson v. Clarke*, 118 Wash.2d 498, 501, 825 P.2d 706 (1992).

Assignment of error number two should not be granted for multiple reasons. First, it doesn't meet any of the criteria set out under RAP 13.4(1-4). Second, the facts upon which the City are arguing are not supported by the pleadings two separate Orders Granting Summary Judgment. Finally, it appears that the City is attributing error to Division III that arguably the City invited. Finally, the City appears to be asserting error that was not raised to Division III. The City's second assignment of error is without merit and should be denied.

The Plaintiff/Appellant takes no issue with the analysis engaged in by Division III.

The decision by Division III as made without error. The decision by Division III did not conflict with a decision of this court. The decision by Division II did not conflict with a published Court of Appeals decision. The decision by Division III did not raising a significant constitutional question. The decision by Division III is not one of substantial public interest.

In summary, the City failed to meet any of the criteria required to allow for granting a Petition for Review. The Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Petition for Review be denied for the above stated reason.

#### D. Attorney's Fees and Cost

In line with RAP 18.1(b) and RAP 14.1, 14.3, this is the first briefing as a Respondent in this matter before this court. The Respondent, upon viewing the arguments of the City to this court

believes they are without merit and therefore request in the event that

the Plaintiff is found to have substantially prevailed that the Plaintiff/

Respondent be awarded attorney's fees and the cost incurred for the

preparation and costs of the briefing before this court.

V. CONCLUSION

The panel of Judges in Division III, Court of Appeals did not err.

The City/ Petitioner failed to meet the standards and criterial for review

as set out engaged in RAP 13.4. In the event this court denies the

petition for review, the Plaintiff/ Respondent request and order granting

attorneys fees and costs in reliance upon RAP 14 and RAP 18.1(b).

The Plaintiff/ Respondent respectfully request this Court deny the

Petition for Review filed by the City and uphold the decision of the

entire panel from Division III, court of appeals.

13<sup>th</sup> of July 2022